

BY-LAWS  
Of  
Seacliff Park, Inc.  
An Improvement Association  
(Revised May 28, 1976)  
(Revised April 19, 1984)  
(Revised October 2000)  
(Revised April 2003)  
(Revised May 2015)  
(Revised March 2021)  
(December 2024)

ARTICLE I

PURPOSE AND EXTENT

SECTION 1. The purpose of this Corporation (herein referred to as "Association") shall be the general improvement of living conditions in the community known as Seacliff Park through:

- a) Wider knowledge and communication with county, state, and federal government agencies and organizations
- b) Civic betterment
- c) Improvement of public works
- d) Environment beautification
- e) Conservation of our natural resources

SECTION 2. The area known as Seacliff Park is described as the area bounded by Monterey Bay, Borregas Gulch, Highway 1, and the cliff west of Aptos Creek.

ARTICLE II

FINANCIAL LIABILITY OF MEMBERS

SECTION 1. Excepting only annual dues and/or assessments as hereinafter provided, no financial liability whatsoever shall ever be incurred for debts of the Association by reason of membership in this Association.

ARTICLE III

MEMBERS

SECTION 1. Eligibility. Any property owner or resident of Seacliff, who shall pay one year's dues, shall be a member of this Association. Any individual with contractual responsibilities, such as mortgages or business ownership in the area of Seacliff is also eligible for membership.

SECTION 2. Classes of Membership. There shall be but one class of membership with equal voting rights.

SECTION 3. Membership Definition. A membership is defined as a Seacliff household residence, business, or property owner.

SECTION 4. Rights of Members. Each membership in good standing shall be entitled to one vote on all matters coming before the members and shall have equal rights in the assets of the Association.

SECTION 5. Good Standing. A member shall be in good standing when all dues or assessments have been paid within 60 days after the due date and/or notice in case of assessments.

SECTION 6. Loss of Good Standing. A member who shall cease being in good standing as provided in Section 6 of this Article shall be automatically terminated from membership and lose all rights of membership of whatever nature.

SECTION 7. Withdrawal. Any member in good standing may withdraw from membership by filing notice with the Secretary or President and all rights of such member in the Association shall automatically terminate upon the date of the receipt of such notice of withdrawal.

SECTION 8. Termination of a Member. Upon the termination, withdrawal, or death of a member, the membership shall cease, and all property rights of such terminated member shall vest in the remaining members.

SECTION 9. Membership List. The membership list is available to association members only. Commercial use is prohibited. Use of the membership list requires board approval.

#### ARTICLE IV

##### MEMBERS' MEETINGS

SECTION 1. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of members shall be held at a place determined by the Board of Directors in the latter part of the month of October of each year.

SECTION 2. Purpose of Annual Meeting. The annual meeting shall be held for the purpose of hearing a report of the President, a financial report of the Treasurer, the discussion of general activities of the Association, the announcement of results of the election of directors for the ensuing year, and any other business proper to come before the members.

SECTION 3. Quarterly Meetings. Quarterly meetings of members shall be held at a place and date determined by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4. Purpose of Quarterly Meetings. The quarterly meetings shall be held to discuss general activities of the Association and any other business to come before the members.

SECTION 5. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the members for any purpose whatsoever may be called by the President, the Board of Directors, or by written request of 15 members in good standing.

SECTION 6. Notice of Meetings. Notice of annual, quarterly, or special meetings shall be given to all members in good standing at least 10 days prior to that meeting. Such notices shall contain a statement of the place, date, and hour, and the purpose of such meeting, and shall be deemed proper if sent electronically or, in the case of members who do not use e-mail, deposited in the U.S. Mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the member at the last address furnished by that member or by telephone call.

SECTION 7. Quorum. The presence in person or by written proxy of 15 members in good standing shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business, as stated in the advertised agenda, at member meetings.

SECTION 8. Proxies. Members in good standing may be represented by written proxies.

## ARTICLE V

### DIRECTORS

SECTION 1. Authority of Directors. Subject to limitations by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or the By-Laws of the Association, association responsibilities shall be exercised by or under the authority of the Board of Directors consisting of a minimum of seven directors and no more than nine. Directors' terms shall be a minimum of two years. Half the directors shall be either elected or filled on odd numbered years, and the other half on even numbered years.

SECTION 2. Limitations of Directors. Individual Directors are not empowered to take public stands on community issues proclaiming representation of the Association's Board of Directors unless prior concurrence has been agreed upon by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Before the expenditure of corporate funds or the incurring of any obligation in excess of \$1,500.00 in any single transaction shall be valid; such action of the Board must be approved by a majority vote at a general membership meeting or online.

SECTION 3. Qualifications of Directors. Only members in good standing shall be eligible to be elected as directors, and loss of good standing shall automatically declare the office of Director held by such person to be vacant. Candidates must have been a member of this Association for a minimum of one (1) year.

SECTION 4. Vacancies. The office of Director of one who is absent from three consecutive meetings of the Board without reasonable excuse, may be declared vacant by the Board of Directors. Vacancies on the Board due to disqualification, death, or resignation, shall be filled by appointment by the Board for the remaining unexpired term.

SECTION 5. Organization Meetings. At a board meeting following the annual meeting of members, the Board of Directors elected shall hold a meeting for the purpose of organization. The first item of business shall be the election of the Association President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer for the ensuing year. The President will appoint standing committees concurrent with the needs and activities of the Association.

SECTION 6. Regular Meetings. Regular Board of Directors meetings shall be held without call or notice once a month on specific days as set by the Board of Directors at the beginning of the calendar year, except those months when a membership meeting is held. The Board may, at its discretion, alter the regular meeting date to avoid conflict with other events. Board meetings are open; all Association members are encouraged to attend.

SECTION 7. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called for any purpose by the President or any two directors or by resolution of the Board. Forty-eight hours notice shall be given each Director of all special meetings except those voted by the board.

SECTION 8. Quorum. A majority of the authorized number of Directors shall constitute a quorum. Except as otherwise provided, every action taken by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be the valid act of the Association. Actions may also be approved by the Board via

electronic means, which shall then be ratified in the next regular meeting.

SECTION 9. Compensation. No compensation shall be paid to Directors for serving as directors, but this provision shall not prevent the employment of any director for other services and compensating him/her therefore.

SECTION 10. Nomination and Election of Directors. The Board may request nominations from the membership-at-large. If more members are interested in board service than the number of available openings, the election shall be conducted by secret ballot mailed to all members at least ten days prior to the annual meeting. Results of the election shall be announced at the annual meeting.

## ARTICLE VI

### OFFICERS

SECTION 1. The officers of the Association shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, who shall be chosen by the Directors annually from the duly elected directors, excepting that the Secretary and Treasurer need not be directors. Officers shall serve for a period of one year and until their successors are chosen unless they are removed or resign prior to such time.

SECTION 2. Subordinate Officers. The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, appoint a membership chair, an assistant secretary or an assistant treasurer and/or such other and further officers or employees with term of office, duties, and compensation as they may deem proper and necessary.

SECTION 3. Removal of Officers. The Board of Directors may, by majority vote, remove any officer with or without notice and with or without stated cause. Said officer may appeal his/her dismissal to the general membership within two quarterly meetings. Final decision rests in the authority of the majority of the general membership in attendance at that meeting.

SECTION 4. Vacancies. Vacancies in the offices by death, resignation, or removal shall be filled for the unexpired term by majority vote of the Board of Directors.

## ARTICLE VII

### DUTIES OF OFFICERS

SECTION 1. President. Subject to the authority of the Board of Directors, the President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association with the general powers and duties vested in such office together with specific duties and powers with which he/she shall be vested by the Board of Directors. The President shall execute all documents on behalf of the Association, preside at all meetings of members and meetings of the Board, shall, with the approval of the Board, appoint such standing or special committees as may be deemed proper, and shall be an ex-officio member of all standing committees. The President shall make an annual report of progress of the Association to the members.

SECTION 2. Vice President. The Vice President shall succeed to all powers and perform all duties of the President in the event of a temporary vacancy in that office, or the absence or disability of that officer to act.

SECTION 3. Secretary. The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept a record of minutes showing all

transactions of the members and Directors, sign other documents on behalf of the Association, and perform such other duties as may be required by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall receive all monies due the Association, deposit same in depositories and disburse the same as and in the manner determined from time to time by the Board of Directors, keep or cause to be kept an accurate account and record of all properties and financial transactions of the Association, prepare tax returns, as required, and render an annual account thereof to the members or periodic accounts as requested by the President or the Board.

SECTION 5. Membership. The Board shall keep or cause to be kept an accurate record of the members of the Association, send specific notices to members as may be required and forward a current list of members to the President and Treasurer monthly or as needed.

## ARTICLE VIII

### DUES AND ASSESSMENTS

SECTION 1. Entrance Fees. No entrance fee shall be charged for membership in the Association.

SECTION 2. Dues. Annual dues in such amount as shall be determined by the Board of Directors and approved by the general membership shall be payable by the members. Dues shall be payable at the beginning of the calendar year and failure to pay same within 60 days shall cause the member to lose good standing as provided in Article III, Section 6 hereof.

## ARTICLE IX

### MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 1. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Association shall be from January 1<sup>st</sup> to December 31<sup>st</sup> for tax return purposes. Dues and memberships shall be from January 1<sup>st</sup> to December 31<sup>st</sup>.

SECTION 2. Annual Audit. An annual audit shall be made on the Treasurer's books in the January meeting of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 3. Expenditures. No monies of this the Association shall be disbursed except on Association checks signed by two officers as designated by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4. Procedures. The business of the Association may be conducted under procedures set forth in Roberts Rules of Order, Revised.

SECTION 5. Amendments. These by-laws may be amended or augmented by resolution of the Board of Directors and approved by majority vote of members present at a member meeting held after 10 days' notice of such meeting, see Article IV, SECTION 7.

SECTION 6. Reinstatement of Members. Withdrawn members or memberships forfeited through loss of good standing may be reinstated on terms and conditions as prescribed by the Board of Directors.